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Executive Summary 
 
 Every year, millions of high school graduates and their families seek ways to finance the 
costs of a college education.  In the process, they sometimes are either victimized by or 
unwittingly participate in federal student financial aid fraud.  To help students and their families, 
Congress passed the College Scholarship Fraud Prevention Act of 2000, Pub. L. No. 106-420, 
114 Stat. 1867, and it was signed into law on Nov. 1, 2000.  This act established stricter 
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II. Implementation of the College Scholarship Fraud Prevention Act 
 

A. Amendments to Sentencing Guidelines 
 
 As discussed in previous reports, the U.S. Sentencing Commission amended the 
Sentencing Guidelines, effective Nov. 1, 2001, to include enhanced penalties for financial aid 
fraud.  Specifically, it amended Section 2B1.1(b)(7)(D)2

 

 of the Sentencing Guidelines to add a 
provision raising the relevant “offense level” by two levels if the crime involved 
misrepresentation to a consumer in connection with obtaining, providing, or furnishing financial 
assistance for an institution of higher education.  There were no cases reported in Fiscal Year 
2010 in which the sentencing enhancement was imposed. 

 B. National Awareness Activities 
 

1. The Department of Education’s National Awareness Activities 
 
 The Department of Education continues to provide consumer education products and 
engage in outreach efforts to increase awareness of financial aid fraud.  The primary education 
products are a brochure called “Save Your Money, Save Your Identity” and a Web page called 
“Looking for Student Aid” at www.studentaid.ed.gov/LSA.  Both products list free resources 
that provide information about financial aid and warn students about financial aid scams.  As 
discussed in more detail in prior reports, the Department of Education also publishes booklets 
and fact sheets that provide fraud prevention information to consumers.  Distribution of print 
publications with scam warnings totaled approximately 4.8 million copies in 2010.  Visits to the 
Department of Education’s www.studentaid.ed.gov website, which hosts the online versions of 
the publications, numbered more than 19 million in 2010.  The Department of Education’s Office 
of Inspector General also hosts a fraud awareness website with scholarship scam information.  
The site, found at www.ed.gov/misused, registered more than 40,000 visits in 2010. 
 
 The Department of Education’s outreach activities include numerous presentations to 
students, parents, counselors, and college financial aid administrators.  Staff members make an 
effort to include, at a minimum, a brief warning about financial aid fraud in each workshop. 
 
 In order to stay aware of issues concerning various audiences, Department of Education 
staff members monitor listservs directed to professionals (such as high school or college access 
counselors) involved in helping students obtain financial aid.  List members sometimes post 
messages asking or warning about companies charging fees for aid or information about aid.  In 
response to such messages, Department of Education staff members occasionally post reminders 
that students can receive free advice from college financial aid administrators and from the 
Department of Education (as well as from high school counselors and other college access 
professionals).  The Department of Education’s reminders are sent to a total of more than 5,000 
listserv members. 
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2. FTC’s Consumer Education and Outreach Efforts 
 
 The FTC conducts an ongoing project to prosecute and prevent scholarship fraud called 
Project Scholarscam.  Initiated in 1996, it includes both law enforcement efforts and a consumer 
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III. Nature and Quantity of Incidents of Financial Aid Fraud 
 
 A. Overview of Financial Aid Fraud 
 
 As discussed in previous reports, operators of financial aid scams generally promise their 
services will ensure that students receive either a scholarship or more financial aid than students 
and parents could get on their own.  Other typical claims include:  (1) that millions (in some 
cases billions) of dollars of scholarships go unclaimed every year, with promises to get the 
student his or her fair share; (2) that the advertiser has extremely high success rates, including 
“testimonials” from satisfied customers; and (3) that the advertiser is endorsed or approved by a 
federal or state agency, a chamber of commerce, or a Better Business Bureau.3

 

  In fact, although 
they charge fees ranging from $50 to more than $1,000, these operators provide few, if any, 
services to help students and their families find financial aid. 

 The College Scholarship Fraud Prevention Act was enacted at a time when scholarship 
scams were prevalent; this report addresses the ongoing efforts to minimize such scams.  In 
recent years, however, other financial aid related consumer protection issues, such as the 
potential impact of predatory lenders on student borrowers and the charging of fees for assistance 
completing the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA), have increasingly become 
the focus of students, parents, schools, and the general public.  The Department of Education, the 
FTC, and Congress have taken steps to attempt to combat financial aid related abuses of 
individual students.  Similarly, the cases prosecuted by the Department of Justice reflect the 
prevalence of a broader universe of schemes to defraud federal student financial aid programs, 
including fraudulent applications solicited and submitted by corrupt student loan officers and 
sham applications for assistance in the name of unaware student victims. 
 
 In 2008, the Department of Education and the FTC collaborated on a publication, 
“Student Loans:  Avoiding Deceptive Offers,” to alert potential borrowers to deceptive lending 
practices.  The publication is available through the FTC’s and the Department of Education’s 
consumer protection websites. 
 
 The Department of Education and the FTC will continue to work together to educate and 
protect students and their families.  For instance, the Department of Education’s Federal Student 
Aid compliance office can now access information in the FTC’s Consumer Sentinel4

 

 database 
about complaints against schools and use the information to better target limited program review 
resources.  The Department of Education is also able to enter information on complaints that it 
receives against particular schools.  In addition, the Department of Education and the FTC have 
been working together to clarify their guidance to business and consumers to ensure that both 
agencies are sending a consistent message about what constitutes a deceptive practice or a 
misrepresentation so that students and parents can make informed choices based on reliable 
information.  

The Department of Education continues to expand its efforts on behalf of consumers.  In 
2010, the Department’s office of Federal Student Aid established the Customer Experience 
office, a new unit to serve as the focal point in representing the customer view across the student 
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years.  As discussed in prior reports, however, raw complaint and inquiry numbers are an 
imperfect gauge of the extent of fraudulent activities.  For example, certain types of fraud may be 
underreported, whereas in other instances the raw numbers may overstate the extent of the 
fraud.6

 

  Nevertheless, the FTC’s law enforcement and consumer education campaign (which 
began in 1996), as well as the Department of Education’s national awareness activities, may be 
contributing to the proportionally lower complaint figures. 

 The Consumer Sentinel complaint database is a useful tool, not only to estimate the 
extent of scholarship fraud but also to assess the nature of financial aid fraud and identify 
possible targets for law enforcement action.  Prior reports noted that the nature of financial aid 
fraud has changed over time.  A decade ago, the majority of complaints received by the FTC 
concerned telemarketing fraud by bogus scholarship search firms.  In more recent years, many 
complaints involved financial aid consulting firms that promised customized, comprehensive 
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 a. Complaints to the Department of Education’s FSAIC 
 
 The FSAIC has two sections:  the correspondence unit and the telephone hotline (1-800-
4-FED-AID). 
 
 In 2010, the correspondence unit received no written complaints (as in 2009) regarding 
scholarship fraud.    
 
 The FSAIC’s hotline received no calls in 2010 (as in 2009) from consumers who believed 
they had been targets of financial aid scammers.   
 
 The FSAIC also occasionally receives complaints about websites charging students a fee 
to submit the FAFSA.7

 

  These complaints, like the scholarship fraud complaints, have declined 
over the years.  In 2010, the FSAIC received two complaints about such websites (and the OIG 
received one).  The Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended (HEA), allows an applicant to 
use a preparer for consultative or preparation services to complete a paper or electronic FAFSA.  
If an applicant uses a preparer for consultative or preparation services for the completion of a 
FAFSA for which a fee is charged, the preparer must include, at the time the FAFSA is 
submitted to the Department of Education, the preparer’s name, address or employer’s address, 
Social Security number or employer 
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 During the negotiations, the Program Integrity Committee reviewed and discussed 
multiple drafts of proposed regulations.  At the final meeting in January 2010, the committee did 
not reach consensus on the proposed regulations, which left the secretary of education free to 
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The Department believes these regulatory changes will provide greater protections for 
students and families through enhanced enforcement authority against eligible institutions that 
engage in substantial misrepresentation and will prevent institutions from circumventing the 
intent of the statutory prohibition concerning the payment of bonuses, commissions, or incentive 
payments to any person or entity engaged in any student recruitment or admission activity or the 
award of Title IV HEA program assistance. 
 
 D. 
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aid in the form of Stafford Loans and Pell Grants in order to attend Rio Saldado Community 
College, even though they were neither active students nor intending to become active students.  
The remaining 60 defendants acted as “straw” students at the behest of Halton.  This case was 
investigated by the U.S. Postal Inspection Service and the U.S. Department of Education Office 
of Inspector General, with assistance from the Surprise, Ariz., 
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Defendant Moore was charged by information in October 2009 with one count of obtaining 
federal student financial assistance through fraud, bank fraud, and Social Security representative 
payee fraud.  Moore, an assistant professor at Williams College, visiting researcher at Yale Law 
School, and senior policy fellow for a member of the U.S. House of Representatives, pleaded 
guilty in November 2009 to all three counts.  According to Moore’s factual proffer, beginning in 
1985 and continuing through 2009, he commenced a course of conduct of assuming false 
identities in applying for federal student financial assistance from four different colleges, for 
over 90 credit cards, and for status as a Social Security representative payee in order to receive 
and cash Social Security checks.  The loss from these frauds totaled at least $821,977.97.  This 
case was investigated by the U.S. Department of Education Office of Inspector General, the U.S. 
Secret Service, the U.S. Capitol Police, and the Social Security Administration Office of 
Inspector General.13

 
   

�x United States v. Katrina White and Willie James Sanford, Case No. 09-cr-00344-CMA-01 
(D. Colo.) 

 
Defendants White and Sanford were indicted in August 2009 and charged with conspiring to 
fraudulently obtain federal student financial assistance through identity theft and with theft of 
student loan funds.  Both defendants pleaded guilty to the conspiracy count of the indictment in 
January and February 2010, respectively.  Sanford was sentenced in June 2010 to a term of 
probation of five years, a special assessment of $100, and restitution in the amount of 
$67,431.08.  White was sentenced in July 2010 to a term of probation of five years, a special 
assessment of $100, and restitution in the amount of $62,551.  This case was investigated by the 
U.S. Department of Education Office of Inspector General. 
 
�x United States v. Talon Deante Jackson, Case No. 1:09CR10-001 (N.D. Fla.) 
 
Defendant Jackson pleaded guilty in August 2009 to all counts of an eight-count indictment 
charging multiple instances of federal financial student assistance fraud and identity theft.  
Jackson was sentenced in October 2009 to a term of imprisonment of 21 months, followed by 
supervised release of a term of five years, a special assessment of $800, and restitution in the 
amount of $48,415.  This case was investigated by the U.S. Department of Education Office of 
Inspector General. 
 
�x United States v. Cory Alan Bailey, Case No. CR 111-27·I.LRR (D. Iowa.) 
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In March 2010, defendant Dreher pleaded guilty to one count of aggravated identity theft in 
connection with a fraudulent application for federal student financial assistance.  Dreher was 
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IV. Conclusion 
 
 As described above, the FTC, the Department of Education, and DOJ have implemented 
the directives of the College Scholarship Fraud Prevention Act of 2000.   
 

Since the act was passed, both the FTC and Department of Education have added content 
to websites and increased efforts in fraud awareness campaigns. DOJ continues to prosecute 
individuals charged with fraud in the offering or obtaining of federal student aid but did not 
prosecute anyone for scholarship scams in 2010. 
 

Although complaints about scholarship scams have decreased greatly, the agencies are 
continuing to work cooperatively to prosecute and prevent financial aid fraud. 
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Appendix: Fraud Awareness Websites 
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Endnotes 

 
                                                 
1 Previous reports can be accessed via www.studentaid.ed.gov/LSA.   
 
2 On Nov. 1, 2004, this provision was redesignated as U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1(b)(8)(D). 
 
3 Solving the Problem of Scholarship Scams:  Hearings on S. 1455, The College Scholarship 
Fraud Prevention Act of 1999 Before the S. Comm. on the Judiciary, 106th Cong. (1999) 
(statement of Mark Kantrowitz, publisher of the www.finaid.org website). 
 
4 Consumer Sentinel is a secure, password-protected complaint database designed to allow law 
enforcers to share data about fraud.  Consumer Sentinel now contains over 7.2 million fraud and 
identity theft complaints and is accessible to more than 1,700 law enforcement agencies—
including every state attorney general in the U.S. and consumer protection agencies in 23 
nations.  In addition to consumer complaints, Consumer Sentinel offers its law enforcement 
members a variety of tools to facilitate investigations and prosecutions, including:  law 
enforcement alerts about companies currently under investigation; information to help agencies 
coordinate effective joint action; an index of telemarketing sales pitches; and data analysis to 
determine trends in fraud.  Consumer Sentinel collects complaints from the FTC and over 125 
other organizations.  More information on Consumer Sentinel can be found in Consumer Sentinel 
Network Data Book for January–December 2010, issued by the FTC in March 2011 and 
available online at www.ftc.gov/sentinel/reports/sentinel-annual-reports/sentinel-cy2010.pdf. 
 
5 The number of financial aid related complaints and total fraud complaints per year are set forth 
in the table on page 24. 
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FTC’s Consumer Sentinel Complaints 

Year Financial Aid-Related 
Complaints 

Total Fraud Complaints Percentage of Financial 
Aid Complaints to Total 

Fraud Complaints 

1996 133 16,588 0.802% 

1997 146 29,069 0.502% 

1998 246 62,840 0.391% 

1999 290 85,248 0.340% 

2000 228 111,255 0.205% 

2001 184 137,306 0.134% 

2002 259 242,783 0.107% 

2003 328 331,366 0.099% 

2004 757 410,298 0.185% 

2005 256 437,585 0.059% 

2006 201 423,672 0.047% 

2007 198 503,797 0.039% 

2008 852 609,595 0.140% 

2009 315 680,704 0.046% 

2010 718 725,087 0.099% 
 

 
6 As discussed in previous years’ reports, the number of complaints contained in the Consumer 
Sentinel database does not provide a complete picture of the extent of consumer injury from any 
particular type of fraud:  (1) some consumers may complain directly to the company or to law 
enforcement authorities that do not forward complaints to the Consumer Sentinel database; (2) 
some financial aid scams on the Internet are relatively inexpensive and consumers often do not 
complain when the financial injury is low; (3) increases in the number of complaints may reflect 
an increase in the number of law enforcement and consumer protection agencies forwarding 
complaints to the Consumer Sentinel database; and (4) increases in the number of complaints 
may reflect greater consumer awareness of the fraud and how to report it. 
 
7



 

25 
 

                                                                                                                                                             
programs.  Many states and schools also use the FAFSA to award aid from their programs.  
Some states and schools may require the student to fill out additional forms for state and school 
awards. 
 
8 Among other things, the FTC enforces Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45, which 
prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce.  Section 13(b) of the 
FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), allows the FTC to bring, by its own attorneys, actions in federal 
district court to halt violations of Section 5.  Remedies available to the FTC include permanent 
injunctions and equitable monetary relief such as restitution to consumers or disgorgement of 
unjust enrichment.  Section 13(b) also allows the FTC to seek preliminary relief, including 
temporary restraining orders and preliminary injunctions.  In appropriate cases, the FTC may 


